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SR UoTan UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
Vo SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. _24—CR—2039,0-_WILL1AMS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Y.
JOHN CHRISTOPHER POLIT,

Defendant.
: /

R . PLEA AGREEMENT

" The United Statés Department of Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud Section and the Usiited
» - States . Attorney’s: Office .for the Southern District of Florida (collectively, “the Offices”) and
“JOHN CHRISTO?H’ER POLIT (hereinafter referred to as the “defendaﬁt”)x enter into the following
agree-mcnt: |
C 1 .oiv0The defendant agrees to plead guilty to Count 1 of the Indictment in this case, which
. charges. him With conspirdcy to,commit money laundering, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1957(a). |
Vi 2.+ o The 'dqfendant is aware that the sentencc will be imposed by the Court after
5,000 woconsidering . the qadvisory . Féderal Scntcncing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter
= “Sentencing Guic'i'elines"-’,)','-as‘ well as other factors enumerated in Title 18; United States Code,
;- +:Section 3553(a). - The defendant acknowledges and ﬁnderstands that the Court will compute an
s ox Ladvisory sentencing cguidelinier range under the Sentencing Guidelines and that the applic'able
. r.guidelines: will” be determined-by the ‘Court relying in part on the resullt’s.? of a pre-sentence
L .+'investigation: by the Court’s-probation office, which investigation will commence after the guilty.

. w.plea has been-entered.” .'The defendant is also aware that, under certain circumstances, the Court
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"~ may dcpart from the advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed and may raise or -

- lower that advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. The defendémt 1s further aware

" and understands that-the -Cou;t is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined
undeffthe Sentencing Guidclihe$ but is not bound to imposc a sentence within that advisory range;
. tlie (',_“ou'rt is permitted to tailor the ultimate sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such
: senéence may be either more sevérc or less severc than the Sentencing Gu‘idelines’ advisory range.

Knowihé these facts, the defendaﬁt understands and acknowledges that tI;e Court has the authority

to impose any séntenée within and up to the statutory maximum authorized by law for the'offeﬁsc
" identified in paragraph ..3 and that the defendant may not withdraw the plea solely asa resﬁlt of the

seﬁtence imposed. |

23 The defendant also-understands and acknowledges that the Court may impose a

term of imprisonment of up to 10 years, followed by a term of subervised rcléase ofupto3 Ny'ealrs.

In addition to a term of ‘imprisonment and suﬁervised release, the Court may impose a finc of up
.-"to'$250,000 or twice the amotunt of the criminally derived prdperty involved in the transéctioﬁs,
g 'whiéhever ié greater, and méy order criminal forfeiture and restituﬁon. |

4, Thp defendant ’ﬁﬁher understands and acknowledges that; in addition‘ to ;Lny

sentence imposed under of this agreement, a special assessment in the amc')unt- of $lbd ﬁll be
1mposed on the defendant “The defendant agrees that any spec1al assessment imposed shall be
paid at the time of sentcncmg Ifthe defcndant is financially unable to pay the special asséssment
. the defendant agrees'to present evidence to the Offices and the Court at the time of senteng:mg as

to the reasons for the defendant’s failure to pay.
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- 5. The Offices reservé the right to inform the Coulfc and the probation office of all
facts pertinent to the scatencing process, including all relevant information concerning the offenses
) cbmmitted, whethe;; charged or not, as well as concerning the defendant and the defendant’s
background. Squ ecf only to the express terms of any agreed-upon sentencing recommendations
contained in this agreement, the Offices further reserve the right to ﬁakc any recommendaﬁon as
to fhe quality and qﬁé_ntity of pﬁnis_hment.
6. ‘The Offices and the defendant agree that, alth(i_ugh.not binding on the probation
- office or the Court, they will j'oihtly recommend that the Court fnake the following findings and -
conclusions as fo the sentence to bé imposed: |

a. Base Offense Level: The defendant’s base offense level is 27 in accordance with

US.S.G. § 2S1.1(a)(2), as follows:
(i) Thebase offense level is 8 in accordance with U.S.S.G. §§ 2581.1(a)(2); |
(i) - The offensc level for the underlying offense shall be increésed by 20 levels
pursuant to ‘U.S.S.G. §§ 251.1(a)(2), 2B1.l(b)(l)(k) because the benefit

received or to be received in return for the payment was more than $9.5 million.

b. Svéciﬁc‘Offense Characteristics: The defendant’s offense level shall be increased by
- 1 level pursuant to U.S.8.G. § 2.51.1(b)(2)(A) for a conviction under Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1957. See U.S.S.G. § 2.51.1, cmt. n.3(C).

¢, Zero Point Offender: The defendant’s offense level shallbe dccreased by 2 1e§els

pursuant to Section 4C1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines.

d. Total Offense Level: The defendant’s total offense level is 27. The. defendant has a

criminal history category of L.
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e. Based on a criminal history category of I and a total offense level of 27, the defendant’s
advisory séntencing guideline range is 70 to 87 months of imprisonment beforc any
adjustment for acceptance of responsibility.

7. The Offices agree that they will recommend at sentencing that the Court reduce by
two levels the sentencing -guideline level applicable to the defendant’s offense, pursuant to
Section 3EI.1{(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the defendant’s recognition and
affirmative and timely .acceptance of personal responsibility. If at the time of sentencing the
defendant’s offense level is determined to be 16 or greater, the Offices will file a motion requesting
an additional one level decrcasc pursuant to Section 3E1.1(b) of the Sentencing Guidcl'mcs, stating

- that the defg:ndant has assisted authorities in the investigation or proseciltion of the defendant’s
own misconduct by timely notifying authorities of the defendant’s intention to enter a plea of
guilty, -fhereby .permitting the government to avoid preparing for trial and permitting the
government and the Court to allocate their resources efficiently. The Offices, however, will not
be required to'make this motion if the dcfendant: (a) fails or refuses to make a full, accurate and
.complete disclosure to the probation office of the circumstances surrounding the relevant offense

. conduct; (b) is found to 'have misrepresented facts to the government prior to entering into this plea
agreement; (c) commits any misconduct after entering into this plea agreement, including but not
limited to committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, or making falsc '
statements or misreprescntations to any governmental entity or official; or, (d) fails to fully assist
in the forfeiture of assets as set forth in this plea agrecment.

8. - The defendant agrees that the defendant shall cooperate fully with the Offices bx;

(2) providing truthful and complete information and testimony, and producing documents, records
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and -other evidence, when called upon by the Offices, whether in interviews, befére a grand jury,
or at any trial or other Court proceeding; (b) appearing at such grand jury proceedings, hearings,
trials, and other judicial proceedings, and at meetings, as may be requircd by the Offices; and (c) if
requested by' the Offices, working in an undercover role under the supervision of, and in

i cpmpliance with, law cnforcement officers and agents. Any assistance the defendant may provide
to the United States federal criminal investigators shall be pursuant to the spepiﬁc instructions and
control of the Offices’ and designated United States investigators. In addiﬁon, the defendant

* agrees that he will not protect any person or entity through false information or omission, that he
will not falsely implicate any person or entity, and that he will not commit any further crimes.
The'defendant further agrees not.to reveal his cooperation, or any information derived therefrom,
to any third party Withmit prior consent of the Government.

29, “The Offices réServe the right to evaluate the nature and extent of the dcfendant’s
cooperation and to makc that cooperation, or lack thereof, known to the Court at the time of
sentenciné.’ If in the sole and unreviewable judgment of the Offices the defendant’s cooperation
is of such ci’uality and significance to the investigation or prosecution of (;theQ criminal matters as
to warrant the Court’s downward departure from the advisory sentencing range calculated under -
the Sentencing Guidelines and/or any applicable minimum mahdat_ory sentence, the Offices may
make a motion prior to sentencing pursuant to Section 5K 1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines and/or
‘Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(€), or subsequent to sentencing pursuant to Rule 35 of
the Federal‘Rules of Criminal Procedure, informing the Court that the defendant has. provided

" substantial assistance and recommending that the defendant’s sentcnce be reduced. The

- defendant understands and agrees, however, that nothing in this agreement requires the Offices to
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file any such motions, and that the Offices’ assessment of the quality and significance of the
" defendant’s cooperation shall be binding as it relates to the appropriateness of the Offices’ filing
or non-filing of a motion to reduce sentence.
10.  The defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court is under no obligation
“to granf-a motion for reduction of sentence filed by the Offices. In addition, the defendant further
- ‘understands and acknowledges that the Court is under no obligation of any type to reduce the
defendant’s sentence because of the defendant’s cooperation.
“11.  In the event that the defendant chooses to seck a variance from the sentencing
- guideline range, the defendant further agrees that any such application shall be filed in writing
‘with the Court and served on the United States no later than the deadline for submitting objections
" “to the Pre-Sentence Investigation Report stated in Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32(f)(1),
subject to any extension of time agreed upon between the parties or ordercd by the Court.
*12.  The defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by the Court.
The defendant also is aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing range or sentence that the °
defendant may receive; whether that estimate comes from the defendant’s attorey, the Offices, or
the probation office, is a prediction, not a promise, and. is not binding on the Offices, the probation
- office or the Court. ‘The defendant understands further that any recommendation that the Offices
make fo the Court as to sentencing, ;Nhethcr pursuant to this agreement or otherwise, is not binding
" on the Court and the Court may disregard the recommendation in its entirety. The defendant
understands and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in paragraph 2 above, that the

- defendant may not withdraw his plea based upon the Court’s decision not to accept a sentencing



defendant and the Offices.
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recommendation made by the defendant, the Offices, or a recommendation made jointly by the

13.  The defendant agrees, in an individual and any other capacity, to forfeit to the

United States, voluntarily and immediately, any right, title, and interest to any property, real or
personal, involved in the violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) to which the defendant is pleading guilty,
-and any property ﬁaceable to such property, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), and thc provisions
of 21 US.C. § 853. In additioﬁ, the defendant agrees to the forfeituré of substitute property,

- pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(p). The property ;ubjcct to forfeiture includes, but is not limited to:
| - a. a forfeiture money judgment in the sum of approximateiy $16,510,000 in

"U.S. currency, which suﬁ represents the value of ﬁm property involved in

the conspiracy and obtained by 'defendant; and

b. substitute property, including but not limited to:

i.

C il

iil.

iv.

V.

Vi.

Real property located at 301 Altara Ave, Unit 702, Coral Gables,
Florida 33146;

“Real property located at 1010-1030 NW, 9 Court, Miami,

Florida33136;

Real property located at 88 S.W. 7™ Street, Unit 1202, Miami,

Florida 33130; -
Real property located at 1820 S.W. 3™ Avenue, Miami, Florida’
33130;

Real property located at 1830 S.W. 3™ Avenue, Miami, Florida
33130; and

Real property located at 11438 NW 62" Terrace, Unit 226, Miami,
FL 33178.

 1,4. Defendant further agrees not to contest forfeiture of the real property located at

1900 SW-22™ Street, Miami, FL 33145 (1900 Office Bulldmg”), Wthh has been forfeited to the

Umted States in Umted States v. Carlos Ramon Polit, 22—cr-201 14—KMW Defendant agrees that

the 1900 Office Building-is subject to forfeiture in its entirety as property involved in money

7



‘Case 1:24-cr-20390-KMW  Document 27 Entered on FLSD Docket 11/12/2024 Page 8 of 14

laundering or propefty traceable thereto pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1). The United States
agrees that the net sale proceeds of the 1900 Office Building shall be credited to the Defendant’s
forfeiture moneyA judgment.

15. In lieu of forfeiture of any specific property listed in this Plea Agreement, the

+ defendant agrees that he 'shall remit a sum equal to the outstanding balance of the Defendant’s
forfeiture money judgment within 180 days from of the entry of the forfei’fu;e money judgment
(the “Payment”). Défendant agrees to the final for_fcimre of the Payment, and upbn receipt of the
Payment, all right, title, and interest in the Payment shall vest in the United States.

16.  Dcfenridant. agrees to lsign an affidavit under penalty of perjury attesting that the
Payment is derived from a legitimate source and agrees to attach i)roof of the source of funds to
such affidavit within .l 80 days from the entry of the forfeiture monéy judglment. |

17, Ifthe Payment is not remitted to the United States within 180 days from of fhe entry
of the forfeiture or the affidavit described in the paragraph above is not provfded to the United
States within-180 days from thc=cntfy of the forfeiture money judgment, thc‘vdcfendant consents to
“the forfeiture éll of the real properties listed in this Plea Agreement, and defendant further agrees
that the Property may be sold by the United States.

18.. * The United States agrees that the Payment shall be applied in full satisfaction of the

- Defendant’s forfeiture} money judgment. The United States agrees that it cannot colicct a total of
more than $16,510,000 from the defendzint and co-defendant Carlos Ramon Polit, who‘has been
convicted arid sentenced in 22-CR-20114-KMW..

19. -"I-'h,e defendant agrees that he will not take any action to encumber, tranéfef, dispose

of or cloud the title to any.real property belonging to him without approval of the United States,
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until the Payment is inade. The defendant further agrees that he shall continue to be responsible
for all real property taxes, liens, and other claims and encumbrances against such real prqperty
until the Payment ié madc.
20.  The defendant further agrees that forfciture is indépcndtmt of any assessment, fine,
cost, restitution, or penalty that. may be imposed by the Court. The defendant knowingly and
- voluntarily agrees to waive all constitutional, legal, and equitable defenses to the forfeiture,
including excessive %ﬁﬁes under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In
- addition, the defendant agrees to waive: any applicable tirne limits for administrative or judicial
- forfeiture proceedings, the requirements of Fed. Rs. Crim. P. 32.2 and 43(a), and any appeal qf the
forfeiture.
21. . - The defendant also agrees to fully and truthfully disclose the existence, nature and
"+ location of all asscts in which the-defendant 1mé or had any direct or indirect financial interest or
.control, and any assc;,ts involvcd‘in the offense of conviction. The defendant agrees to take all
* steps requested by the United States for the recovery and forfeiture of all assets identified by the
United States as subject to forfeiture. . This includes, but is not limited to, the timely delivery upon
request_ of all necessary and appropriate documentation to deliver good and marketable title,
consenting to all orders of forfeiture, and not contesting or impeding in any way with any criminal,
civil or administrative forfeiture procceding concerning the forfeiture.
- 22. . In furtherance of the satisfaction of a forfeiture money judgment to be entered by
the Court in this case, the defendant agrees to the following: |
TR . a.. submit a financial statement to the Ofﬁccs' upon request, within 14 calendar days

from a request by the Offices;



b. rnaintéin any asset valued in excess of $10,000, and not sell, hide; waste, encumber,
destroy, or otherwise devalue such asset without prior approval of the United States;

¢. provide information about any transfer of an asset valued in excess of $10,000 since
the commencement of the offense conduct in this case to date;

d. cooperate fully.in the investigation and the identification of assets, including
liquidating assets, meeting with representatives of the United States, and providing
any documentation requested; and

e. motify, within 30 days, the Clerk of the Court for the Southern District of Florida
and the Offices of: (i) any change of name, residence, or mailing address, and (ii)
any material change in economic circumstances..

23.  The defendant further understands that providing false or incompletc information
about assets, concealing assets, making materially false statements or representations, or making
or using false writings or documents pertaining to assets, taking any action that would impede the

forfeiturc of assets, or failing to“cooperate fully in the investigation and identification of assets

may be used as a basis for: (i) separate prosecution, including, under 18 U.S.C. § 1001; or |

(iD) recomhwndation”'of’ a denial of a reduction for acceptance of rcsponsibility pursuant to the
United States Sentencing Guideﬁnes § 3E1.1.

24, The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 and Title 28,
United States Code,’Secﬁon V1291 afford the defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed in
this case. Acknowledging this, and in exchange for the undertakings made By the Ofﬁ_ces- in this
plea agreement, the defendant hereby waives all rights conferred by Sections 3742 and 1291 to

appeal-any sentence imposed, including any restitution order, or to appeal the manner in which the

10
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sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum permitted by statute or is th_e
result of an upward departure and/or an upward variance from the advisory guideline fange that
thc Court establishes at sentencing. The defendant further understands that nothing in this

~ agreement shall affect the Offices’ right and/or duty to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United States
Code, Section 3742(b)iand Title 28, Unifed States Codc, Section 1291. Howeifer, if the Offices
appeal the defendant’s sentence pursuant to Sections 3742(b) and 1291, the defendant shall be
reléased from the above waiver of appellate rights. In addition to the foregoing provisions, the
defendant hereby waives all rights to argue on appeal that the statute fo which the dcfendant is
pleading guilty is nnéonsﬁmtional and that the admitted conduct does not fall ;x/ithin the scope of |
the statute. By Signirig this agrécment, the defendant acknowledges that the defendant has
discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this agreement with the defendant’s a&omcy.

25.  The Offices aﬁd the defendant stipulate to and agree not to contest the facts in the -
Factual Proffer, and stipulate that such facts, in accordance with Rule 11(b)(3) of the Federal Rules
of Criminai Procedure; provide a sufficient factual basis for the plea"of guilty in this case. The
defendant agrees that the facts in the Factual Proffer are true and correct to the best of the
defendanf’s knowledge. Because the factual basis set forth in the Factual Proffer hés the limited
purpose of sﬁpportin‘g the defendant’s guilty plea to the charge discussed in paragraph 1, the factual
basis set forth in the Factual Proffer does not purport to represent all facts and circumsfances
relating to the defendant’s participation. Similarly, the factual basis in the Factual Proffer is not
intended to identify all knowledge the defendant might have of the unlawful activity of other

individuals.

{1
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26.  Effective as of the date the defendant signs this agreemen‘g and the Factual Proffer,
and notwithstanding ainy other subsequent event, inclgding but not limited to in the event the
defendant fails to plead guilty, or the defendant withdraws (or aftempts to withdraw) from this

' ag_reement, or should the Offices, in their sole discretion, determiné that the defendant has failed
to fully comply with any of the terms of this plea agreement, the Offices will be released from | ‘
" their obligations under this agreement, and the defendant agrees and understands that:

‘a. the defendant hereby waives any protection afforded by any proffer letter agreement

between the parties;

b. the defendant will not assert any claim under the Federal Rules of Evidence (including

Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence), the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure
(including Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure), or the Un'ited States
Sentencing Guidelines (including U.S.S.G. § 1B1.1(a)) that the Factual Proffer entered
into in conncction with this Plea Agreement should be suppressed or is otherwise
inadmissible as evidence (in any form); |

¢. any statements made by the defendant as part of fhe plea discussions, any debriefings '

or intervicws, or in this agreement, whether made prior to or after the execution of this .
* agreement, will be admissible against him without any limitation in any civil or
criminal procecding brought by the Offices;

d. the defendant stipulates to the admissibility and authenticity, in any case brought by

the United States in any way related to the facts referred to in this agreement, of any
documents provided by the defendant br the defendant’s representatives to any state or

federal agency and/or the O_fffces; and

12



e. the defendant has adopted the entire factnal basis as the defendant’s statements, and the
defendant has stipulated to the admissibility of the Factual Proffer in any case brought
by the United Statcs as substantive cvidence offered by the government in its case-in-
chief and rebuttal case; i,mpeachmént evidence offered by the government on cross-

examination; and evidence at any sentencing hearing or other hearing,.

27.: ~ The defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences withrespect
to the defendant’s immigratioh status if the defendant is not a citizen of the United States or if the
defendant is a naturalized citizen of the United Statcs. Under federal law, a broad range of crimes
are removable offcns‘éé, including the offenses to which the defendant is pleading guilty. Indeed,
" because the defendant is pleading guilty to engaging in transactions in criminally derived
p'roi)e;ty, removal is ‘presumptively mandatory. Removal and other immigration consequences
are’ the subject of‘a separate proceeding, however, and defendant understands that no one,
including the défepdaht’s attorney or the Court, can predict to a certainty the effect of the
* defendant’s conviction on the defendant’s imrnigratioﬁ status. The defendant ncyertheless affirms
that the defendant wants to plead guilty regardless of any immigrz&iori consequences that the
- defendant’s plea may entail, even if the consequence is the defendant’s automatic removal from

the Uﬁited States.

28.  This plea resolves the defendant’s federal ériminal liability with regard to the
‘O“ﬁicés for conduct related to that described in the Factual Proffer except criminal tax liabiﬁ&
* (as to which the Offices do ot have the.authority to make any agreement). The defendant
Y understands that this-agreement is binding only as to the Offices and only relating to conduct

described in the Factual Proffer.

13
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29, Upon execution of this plea -agreement and the Court’s accéptance of the
defendant’s plea of guilty to Count 1, the United States will move to dismiss the retﬁaining counts
of the Iﬁdictment against the defendant.

This is the entire agreement and understanding between the Offices and the d'efe.ndant. The;e are

no other agreements, pfomises, representations, or understandings.

GLENNS.LEON . 4 . MARKENZY LAPOINTE
CHIEF, FRAUD SECTION UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE :

MICHAEL N. BERGER
SENIOR LITIGATION COUNSEL

ATLEXANDER KRAMER
ASSISTANT CHIEF

Date: ”/71/)—.‘{ | - ~ Date: (1 /o7 (2024

DO J. DORTANR.

Date: - . KOZ 2} /gﬂ '
- S | ATTORNEY FOR DEFEND
' Date: l?/a{fzx! M

o JO%@WHERPOLII.
DEFENDANT
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